







Review

UK Guidelines for Lipomodelling of the Breast on behalf of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgery and Association of Breast Surgery Expert Advisory Group



Joanna Skillman^{a,*}, Penelope McManus^b, Pud Bhaskar^c, Stephen Hamilton^d, P.G. Roy^e, J.M. O'Donoghue^f

Received 29 March 2021; accepted 19 September 2021

KEYWORDS

Lipomodelling; Lipofilling; Fat grafting/transfer **Summary** Lipomodelling has become increasingly popular for reconstructive, aesthetic and therapeutic indications. The guidelines summarise available evidence for indications, training, technique, audit and outcomes in lipomodelling and also highlight areas for further research.

© 2021 British Association of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgeons. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)

Contents

Background	
AIMS	
INDICATIONS	
Post-mastectomy Reconstruction	512
Secondary reconstruction	

E-mail address: Joanna.skillman@uhcw.nhs.uk (J. Skillman).

Consultant Plastic Surgeon, University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust

^b Consultant Oncoplastic Breast Surgeon, University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust

^cConsultant Oncoplastic Breast Surgeon, North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Trust

d Consultant Plastic Surgeon, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust

^e Consultant Oncoplastic Breast Surgeon, Oxford University Hospitals

^f FRCS Plast Newcastle upon Tyne NHS Foundation Trust

^{*} Corresponding author

Partial breast reconstruction	513
Breast asymmetry and developmental anomaliesbreast reconstruction, aesthetic breast	surgery and there
Aesthetic breast surgerypeutic purposes.	513
Therapeutic Indications	513
PATIENT SELECTION	
TRAINING AND TECHNIQUE	513
Introduction	513
Training in Lipomodelling	513
Technique	513
Harvesting	514
Processing	514
Fat injection	
Preconditioning of recipient sites	515
COMPLICATIONS	515
Donor site	
Recipient site	
ROLE OF IMAGING AFTER BREAST LIPOMODELLING	
ONCOLOGICAL SAFETY CONSIDERATIONS	
OUTCOMES AND AUDIT	
Patient-reported outcomes	
Research	
Declaration of Competing Interest	
Author contributions	
Funding	
Ethical Approval	
References	516

Background

The injection of autologous fat into the breast has become popular over the last 20 years and its role has expanded to cover almost all aspects of reconstructive and aesthetic breast surgery. Following the description by Illouz in 1986¹ of using fat grafts to fill depressions, Bircoll² described cosmetic breast augmentation utilising autologous fat and liposuction techniques in 1987. After publications by Coleman³ demonstrating the efficacy of structural fat grafting to the face, the procedure for lipomodelling to the breast was popularised by Delay⁴ and others. Other terms used to describe the procedure are autologous fat transfer, fat grafting and lipomodelling.

AIMS

These guidelines aim to update the Joint Guidelines from the Association of Breast Surgery, the British Association of Plastic, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgeons, and the British Association of Aesthetic Plastic Surgeons published in 2012⁵ and provide guidance on current indications, training and techniques, outcomes and areas for future research.

INDICATIONS

Indications for lipomodelling to the breast are wide and varied and it is not possible to draw up an exhaustive list. Predominantly, indications can be divided into those for

Post-mastectomy Reconstruction

1. Primary reconstruction

In conjunction with other methods of reconstruction.

Lipomodelling can be planned as part of a primary breast reconstruction and can be used in combination with free or pedicled flaps or with implants and tissue expanders^{6,7}. The addition of injected fat can improve volume and contours and expands the role of total autologous reconstruction.

Recent advances in implant reconstruction show lipomodelling being used in pre-pectoral reconstruction^{7,8} as well as with serial tissue expansion in the subpectoral plane.

Concern over the number of procedures required to achieve satisfactory outcomes has led to increasing use of lipomodelling at the time of the primary reconstructive surgery. Some surgeons recommend lipomodelling of the mastectomy skin flaps and the pectoralis major muscle at the time of either implant or flap procedure and also into the latissimus dorsi flap itself, allowing greater volume transfer at the first operation and reducing the need for subsequent procedures. ^{9,10}

2. Total breast reconstruction

Use of lipomodelling as the sole technique for breast reconstruction has been limited to selected patients because of the number of procedures required to achieve satisfactory projection¹¹. It is best suited to small-breasted women with suitable donor sites in whom other types of reconstruction may not be possible or desired. Techniques of preexpansion have been described^{12,13} using various devices prior to fat transfer, to improve graft uptake, but have not been widely adopted.

Adding fat to the tissues following, a 'Goldilocks mastectomy' 14 has been reported to improve outcomes in high-risk patients not suitable for more complex surgery.

3. Irradiated chest wall.

Lipomodelling has been shown to improve the quality of irradiated tissues¹⁵ and can be utilised before or during reconstruction to enable implant-based reconstruction and reduce the risks of associated complications^{16,17}.

Secondary reconstruction

Lipomodelling is indicated for the improvement of volume and contours following reconstruction¹⁸ and the replacement of implant volume beneath flaps following implant removal due to complications¹⁹.

Partial breast reconstruction

Lipomodelling has been shown to be oncologically safe for the correction of breast conservation defects²⁰ though good results can be difficult to achieve following radiotherapy especially in the context of persistent fat necrosis. Immediate lipomodelling at the time of cancer surgery shows promising results and may reduce the incidence of post-operative deformity^{21,22}. There is no evidence regarding optimal timing of delayed lipomodelling after breast conserving surgery, however, some surgeons prefer to delay at least 6 months after radiotherapy or until the first annual surveillance mammogram.

Breast asymmetry and developmental anomalies

Lipomodelling is indicated for the correction of hypoplastic breast syndrome and Poland's syndrome and may obviate the need for implants or flap transfer²³.

Aesthetic breast surgery

Lipomodelling alone can be used for cosmetic volume enhancement²⁴ or it can be used following primary augmentation in either the immediate²⁵ or delayed setting in order to make implants less visible²⁶.

It can also be used in conjunction with mastopexy (immediate or delayed) to avoid using implants²⁷ and following capsulectomy and removal of implants to improve the cosmetic result²⁸.

Lipomodelling is used with caution to correct donor site deformities after autologous flap harvest. After gluteal flap harvest, infiltration of fat should be subcutaneous to avoid injection into the gluteal muscle or deep veins, as there is a higher risk of fat embolism and death (www.surgery.org/sites/default/files/Gluteal-Fat-Grafting-02-06-18_0.pdf).

Therapeutic Indications

Lipomodelling can be useful in the management of capsular contracture, for enhancement of soft tissue coverage and amelioration of discomfort, either as sole treatment or in combination with capsulectomy and/or change of implants^{29,30}.

Fat grafting has been shown in small studies to be effective in reducing pain in post-mastectomy pain syndrome^{31,32} and for some patients may be an alternative to medication and its associated side effects.

Both clinical and in vitro studies^{15,33} have shown that fat transfer can be an effective therapy for radiotherapy tissue changes such as radiodermatitis, improving the quality of irradiated tissues and promoting wound healing. However, caution should be exercised in the presence of established radionecrosis, when a multidisciplinary approach is recommended.

PATIENT SELECTION

Patients must have suitable donor sites and be fit for surgery, potentially for multiple procedures.

Radiotherapy reduces fat graft survival, but although there is limited evidence on the impact of other patient factors, it appears that increasing age, body mass index, diabetes and tamoxifen may also affect outcomes^{34,35}. Nicotine consumption reduces graft survival and adversely affects the efficacy of fat transfer³⁶.

TRAINING AND TECHNIQUE

Introduction

Fat transfer is often the technique of choice to correct volume or contour defects in reconstructive and cosmetic surgery. Considerable expertise is required to achieve optimal results in lipomodelling. Where clinicians and hospitals are introducing lipomodelling in their institution, they should follow local established clinical governance processes for implementing new procedures.

These guidelines aim to describe the standard technique for the procedure and recommendations for training.

Training in Lipomodelling

Formal training should be undertaken under the mentorship of a breast or plastic surgeon with experience in lipomodelling and should include the following components:

- Background theory and knowledge including indications and complications
- Practical skills
- Arrangements for supervision, assistance and mentoring during local implementation
- Evidence of completion of training to an acceptable standard before starting to perform lipomodelling
- Processes in place for consent, audit of efficacy, safety and long-term data collection using the core dataset³⁷.

Technique

Lipomodelling involves the transfer of fat from one area of the body to another. Success is dependent on techniques used for harvesting, processing and grafting of the fat.

Harvesting

Donor site aesthetics should be considered to minimise morbidity and deformity, and potentially improve and enhance the donor areas. Consideration also needs to be given to preserving potential future autologous flap donor sites. It is essential that the surgeon is trained to assess, plan and deliver an aesthetically pleasing outcome (http:// www.bapras.org.uk/docs/default-source/ default-document-library/bapras-baaps-lipo-suctionguidelines.pdf?sfvrsn=2). Fat donor sites should be accessible and consideration may be given to the likelihood of including adipose-derived stem cells (ADSC), which are reported to be higher in the inner knee and lower abdomen³⁸⁻⁴¹. ADSC have been shown to improve fat graft retention and efficiency by enabling graft vascularisation and adipose tissue regeneration^{42,43}. In clinical practice, abdominal, gluteal and lumbar area harvest sites are the most frequently used because of their ease of access and tissue availability.

Infiltration of the donor area is not compulsory but facilitates analgesia and reduces bruising 18,43,44. The potential impact of local anaesthetics (LA) on adipose cells is a matter of debate. In experimental work, lidocaine and epinephrine did not alter the uptake of fat grafts^{45,46}. However, cell culture experiments suggest a cytotoxic effect of LA on adipose cells and ADSC although the use of epinephrine was not deleterious^{47,48}. If lipomodelling is performed under general anaesthetic, a tumescent solution containing diluted epinephrine can be used. Local anaesthetic can be infiltrated after fat harvest for post-operative analgesia. For procedures undertaken under LA, simple techniques, such as centrifugation and washing, can be used to reduce the deleterious effect of LA. The use of hyaluronidase in the fluid infiltration is not recommended due to potential adipocyte disruption, although there is limited evidence.

Stab incisions are made with an 11 blade for access. Infiltration can be undertaken first. A 2-4 mm blunt-tipped fat harvest cannula, preferably with a number of small holes near the tip is selected. Smaller fat particle size corresponds to better adipocyte survival, however, smaller cannula openings correspond to slower and more difficult fat graft harvesting with potential more cellular damage⁴⁹. Fat is harvested by passing the cannula back and forth through the fat in a fan pattern, avoiding over harvest in any particular location. A number of access incisions allow a more uniform harvest. Care should be taken to avoid superficial fat harvest to reduce the chance of skin irregularity or necrosis. Gentle suction can be applied by hand with a 10 ml Luerlock syringe or with a low vacuum to avoid damage to the fat cells. Low-pressure suction (<250 mmHg) appears to increase adipocyte viability⁴⁹. Various devices are available to assist fat harvest, however, none has been proven to be superior and surgeons, and teams should have specific training in the preferred harvest technique and evaluate safety and outcomes⁵⁰.

Processing

After aspiration of the fatty tissue, it is important that non-viable components of the aspirate such as oil, blood, and

tumescence solution are removed and, at the same time, the quality, integrity, and viability of the adipocytes and the inherent mesenchymal stem cells in the aspirate are maintained. Processing techniques include sedimentation, filtration, washing and centrifugation. There is no consensus as to the optimal method of fat graft preparation³⁹. Histological comparison of autologous fat processing methods suggests that sedimentation appears to yield a higher proportion of viable adipocytes than washing or centrifugation. On the other hand, washing harvested fat eliminates inflammatory mediators, reduces immune response at the recipient site and enhances overall graft survival⁵¹.

The most evidence available is for centrifugation of the lipoaspirate at 3000rpm for 1-3 minutes to separate the fluid (decanted) and oil (absorbed) leaving fat cells⁵². However, some recommend shorter duration and lower speeds. Higher centrifugation speeds are associated with adipocyte damage⁵³. Several companies have developed systems for collecting and processing lipoaspirate, but data concerning efficacy and efficiency for each method are limited. The available evidence does not support any one processing technique above another³⁹. Surgeons and their teams should have specific training in the preferred technique and evaluate safety and outcomes.

Cryopreservation of fat has been the subject of several publications, but is not in routine practice⁵⁴.

Fat injection

Lipomodelling requires the grafted fat to be revascularised by the surrounding tissues. This is dependent on very small aliquots of undamaged fat cells being placed into a healthy recipient bed. In order to achieve these aims, small amounts of fat are injected with blunt-tipped small calibre infiltration cannulae (17-18G, maximum diameter 1.5mm), using a Luer-lock syringe. The cannula is pushed gently through the tissues that require grafting via a small stab incision and the fat is injected slowly as the cannula is withdrawn. It is recommended that about 1cc of fat is injected with each pass to achieve optimal deposition. A fresh tunnel is then created for the next pass. Tunnels are all separate from one another and are at different depths and angles to create a lattice of fat deposits. Multiple infiltration sites around the recipient area can facilitate uniform enhancement of the area. Care should be taken to avoid depositing larger volumes of fat in a single site, as the fat cells will fail to revascularise. This could cause oil cysts, microcalcification or fat necrosis, which may require subsequent imaging and biopsy.

Care should also be taken to avoid damage to adjacent structures, in particular breast implants or the pleura by injecting tangentially where possible. It is advisable to undertake injections prior to implant insertion or exchange during a combined procedure.

The recipient area capacity limits the amount of fat that can be injected in a single session, therefore, patients may require repeat procedures to achieve optimal results. The final volume achieved tends to remain stable in the long term, provided the patient maintains a constant weight and avoids smoking. Some surgeons recommend exceeding volume requirements to compensate for anticipated resorption, ⁵⁵ but only if the recipient area capacity is sufficient.

Preconditioning of recipient sites

Preconditioning of the tissues has been reported; experimental evidence suggests microneedling 1 week prior to fat grafting can increase fat take^{55,56}. Similarly, enhancing fat grafts with adipose stromal cells, p38 inhibitors and platelet-rich plasma is recommended by some to increase fat graft survival, but none of these techniques are in common use⁵⁷. Some authors recommend pre-operative tissue expansion with external suction devices to expand tissues prior to fat grafting⁵⁸.

COMPLICATIONS

Complications in lipomodelling tend to be minor and well-tolerated and major complications are rare. Overall, 7% of patients develop a complication. Among these, 86% are reported as minor and do not need any therapeutic intervention^{4,60-64}.

Donor site

Complications include post-operative bruising and swelling, which can be reduced by using infiltration with adrenaline solution (1:100,000). Postoperative compression garments may help. Contour irregularity and skin necrosis can be avoided by good technique as described above.

Major complications can occur in liposuction, including infection, sepsis, visceral perforation and death⁵⁹. It is important to undergo training and ensure competence before performing liposuction.

Recipient site

Fat necrosis is the most common complication; occurring in 3-15% of patients. It can lead to increased graft loss, oil cyst formation and calcifications^{62,63}. Once fat necrosis is established and has not resolved spontaneously, it may require formal aspiration or surgical excision.

Other complications are usually mild and self-limiting. Bruising is common, but haematoma and infection are rare. Perioperative antibiotics can be used according to local guidelines, particularly in the presence of breast implants. Postoperative infection increases the risk of graft loss. Medium-term complications can include hypertrophic scarring, contour irregularities, skin necrosis, over or undercorrection.

The most serious complications, which are very rare, include damage to underlying structures, intravascular injection with fat embolism and death 59 .

Fat resorption of 30-50% is not a complication and is expected after each procedure. Patients should be made aware that multiple procedures may be required.

ROLE OF IMAGING AFTER BREAST LIPOMODELLING

Breast cancer patients should continue clinical and mammographic follow-up by the multidisciplinary team (MDT) according to local protocols. In patients without a previous history of breast cancer, routine follow-up imaging is not advised, other than screening mammography through the National Health Service (NHS) Breast Screening Programme.

Patients who have undergone lipomodelling may present with symptomatic or screen-detected abnormalities in the breast⁶⁰⁻⁶⁵. They should undergo investigation according to national guidelines⁶⁶. A meta-analysis reported radiological abnormalities in 14.5% patients⁶⁷.

Patients who have undergone lipomodelling are at increased risk of fat necrosis and subsequently more likely to have calcifications visible on mammography. Mammographic signs of fat necrosis may not be visible for at least 12-18 months. These calcifications have a typical appearance and are usually easily recognisable. However, patients need to be made aware, this may lead to an increase need for biopsy^{63,64}, leading to additional radiological exposure and potential psychological anxiety.

ONCOLOGICAL SAFETY CONSIDERATIONS

There is no evidence that lipomodelling adversely affects breast cancer detection, surveillance or recurrence rates⁶⁷⁻⁷². There is no evidence to suggest that fat injection into the breast parenchyma is unsafe. Long-term data are awaited for newer techniques, such as immediate lipomodelling at the time of cancer resection²¹.

OUTCOMES AND AUDIT

A core outcome dataset³⁷ (Table 1) has been developed for use in local and regional audit and research. Any unit undertaking lipomodelling should audit these core outcomes to ensure safety and efficacy.

Patient-reported outcomes

Pre- and post-operative photographs in additional to 3D imaging can be used to demonstrate outcomes and volume improvement objectively, which may be used as part of the patient record, for patient education to manage expectations and for medicolegal purposes. The majority of outcome studies indicate that patients were either satisfied or very satisfied after lipomodelling procedures⁶⁷.

Research

Topics for future research include strategies to improve graft survival⁷³, feasibility of fat banking⁵⁴, the role of fat grafting in enhancing implant and autologous reconstruction, oncological safety of immediate lipomodelling after breast conserving surgery and in BRCA mutation carriers,. There is need for quality of life (QoL) studies after lipomodelling, as current evidence is limited⁷⁴.

Declaration of Competing Interest

None

Table 1 Core Outcome Set

- Oncological Outcome
- Rate of histologically confirmed locoregional cancer recurrence Clinical Outcome
- 2 All complications including the actual number, percentage and the Clavien Dindo grading Aesthetic and Functional Outcomes
- 3 Surgeon assessment of volume, shape, symmetry, scarring and any improvement in skin trophicity/quality post-fat grafting (e.g. in irradiated breasts).
- 4 Ability to function and complete daily tasks, perform work and leisure related activities, ideally assessed using a validated instrument (e.g. EQ 5D, BREAST Q)
 - Patient-reported outcomes
- 5 Overall patient-reported satisfaction with the appearance of their breast(s) after surgery ideally using a validated instrument (e.g. BREAST-Q)
- 6 Impact on quality of life such as self-esteem (feeling self-confident), emotional well-being (feelings of emotional and psychological health after surgery), normality (feeling 'back to normal self' of 'whole' as a results of surgery)

 Process Outcomes
- How many fat grafting sessions needed to get optimal results as judged by the patient and/or surgeon (who made the judgement should be stated).
 - Radiological Outcomes
- 8 The incidence of radiological abnormalities expressed quantitatively (e.g. as a number and a percentage)
- Any interference with subsequent mammography scanning expressed quantitatively (e.g. as a number and percentage)

Author contributions

All Authors contributed to the literature review, writing, review and editing. All authors approved the final document.

Funding

None

Ethical Approval

N/A

References

- 1. Illouz YG. The fat cell "graft": a new technique to fill depressions. *Plastic and re- constructive surgery* 1986;**78**(1):122-3 [published Online First: 1986/07/01].
- Bircoll M. Autologous fat transplantation. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 1987;79(3):492-3 [published On-line First: 1987/03/01]. doi:10.1097/00006534-198703000-00050.
- Coleman SR. Facial recontouring with lipostructure. Clinics in plastic surgery 1997;24(2):347-67 [published Online First: 1997/04/01].
- Delay E, Garson S, Tousson G, et al. Fat injection to the breast: technique, results, and indications based on 880 procedures over 10 years. Aesthetic surgery journal 2009;29(5):360-76 [published Online First: 2009/10/15]. doi:10.1016/j.asj.2009. 08.010.
- Joint Guidelines from the Association of Breast Surgery tBAoP, Reconstructive and Aesthetic Surgeons, and the British Association of Aesthetic Plastic Surgeons. Lipomodelling Guidelines for Breast Surgery 2012.
- Delay E, Guerid S. The Role of Fat Grafting in Breast Reconstruction. Clinics in plastic surgery 2015;42(3) 315-23, vii[published Online First: 2015/06/29]. doi:10.1016/j.cps.2015.03. 003.

- Masià J. The largest multicentre data collection on prepectoral breast reconstruction: The iBAG study. *Journal of surgical oncology* 2020;122(5):848-60 [published Online First: 2020/08/14]. doi:10.1002/jso.26073.
- Stillaert F, Lannau B, Van Landuyt K, et al. The Prepectoral, Hybrid Breast Recon- struction: The Synergy of Lipofilling and Breast Implants. *Plastic and recon-structive surgery Global open* 2020;8(7):e2966 [published Online First: 2020/08/18]. doi:10.1097/gox.00000000000002966.
- Johns N, Fairbairn N, Trail M, et al. Autologous breast reconstruction using the immediately lipofilled extended latissimus dorsi flap. *Journal of plastic, re- constructive & aes*thetic surgery: JPRAS 2018;71(2):201-8 [published Online First: 2017/12/15]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2017.10.015.
- Zhu L, Mohan AT, Vijayasekaran A, et al. Maximizing the Volume of Latissimus Dorsi Flap in Autologous Breast Reconstruction with Simultaneous Multisite Fat Grafting. Aesthetic surgery journal 2016;36(2):169-78 [published Online First: 2015/11/08]. doi:10.1093/asj/sjv173.
- Delay E, Meruta AC, Guerid S. Indications and Controversies in Total Breast Re- construction with Lipomodeling. *Clinics in plastic surgery* 2018;45(1):111-17 [published Online First: 2017/10/31]. doi:10.1016/j.cps.2017.08.009.
- Oranges CM, Striebel J, Tremp M, et al. The Impact of Recipient Site External Expansion in Fat Grafting Surgical Outcomes. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery Global open* 2018;6(2):e1649 [published Online First: 2018/04/05]. doi:10. 1097/gox.0000000000001649.
- 13. Ho Quoc C, Piat JM, Carrabin N, et al. Breast reconstruction with fat grafting and BRAVA(®) pre-expansion: Efficacy evaluation in 45 cases. *Annales de chirurgie plastique et esthetique* 2016;61(3):183-9 [published Online First: 2015/07/21]. doi:10.1016/j.anplas.2015.06.010.
- Schwartz JD, Skowronksi PP. Extending the Indications for Autologous Breast Reconstruction Using a Two-Stage Modified Goldilocks Procedure: A Case Report. The breast journal 2017;23(3):344-7 [pub- lished Online First: 2016/12/04]. doi:10.1111/tbj.12737.
- 15. Rigotti G, Marchi A, Galiè M, et al. Clinical treatment of radiotherapy tissue dam- age by lipoaspirate transplant:

- a healing process mediated by adipose-derived adult stem cells. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2007;**119**(5):1409-22 [published Online First: 2007/04/07]. doi:10.1097/01.prs. 0000256047.47909.71.
- Ribuffo D, Atzeni M, Guerra M, et al. Treatment of irradiated expanders: protec- tive lipofilling allows immediate prosthetic breast reconstruction in the setting of postoperative radiotherapy. Aesthetic plastic surgery 2013;37(6):1146-52 [published Online First: 2013/10/12]. doi:10.1007/s00266-013-0221-2.
- Crawford K, Endara M. Lipotransfer Strategies and Techniques to Achieve Suc- cessful Breast Reconstruction in the Radiated Breast. *Medicina (Kaunas, Li- thuania)* 2020;56(10) [published Online First: 2020/10/07]. doi:10.3390/medicina56100516.
- Illouz YG, Sterodimas A. Autologous fat transplantation to the breast: a personal technique with 25 years of experience. Aesthetic plastic surgery 2009;33(5):706-15 [published Online First: 2009/06/06]. doi:10.1007/s00266-009-9377-1.
- Thekkinkattil DK, Salhab M, McManus PL. Feasibility of autologous fat transfer for replacement of implant volume in complicated implant-assisted latissimus dorsi flap breast reconstruction. *Annals of plastic surgery* 2015;74(4):397-402 [published Online First: 2013/10/24]. doi:10.1097/SAP.0b013e3182a6adfc.
- Delay E, Guerid S, Meruta AC. Indications and Controversies in Lipofilling for Partial Breast Reconstruction. *Clinics in plastic surgery* 2018;45(1):101-10 [published Online First: 2017/10/31]. doi:10.1016/j.cps.2017.08.008.
- 21. Khan LR, Raine CR, Dixon JM. Immediate lipofilling in breast conserving surgery. European journal of surgical oncology: the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology 2017;43(8):1402-8 [published Online First: 2017/04/10]. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2017.03.014.
- Biazus JV, Falcão CC, Parizotto AC, et al. Immediate Reconstruction with Autol- ogous fat Transfer Following Breast-Conserving Surgery. The breast journal 2015;21(3):268-75 [published Online First: 2015/03/19]. doi:10.1111/tbj.12397.
- 23. Pinsolle V, Chichery A, Grolleau JL, et al. Autologous fat injection in Poland's syndrome. *Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery: JPRAS* 2008;61(7):784-91 [published Online First: 2008/01/08]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2007.11.033.
- 24. Kwiatkowska K, Krapohl BD, Tanzella U, et al. Long-term clinical results and quality of life in patients undergoing autologous fat transplantation for breast augmentation using the BEAULITM protocol. GMS Interdisciplinary plastic and reconstructive surgery DGPW 2019;8:Doc10 [published Online First: 2019/07/06]. doi:10.3205/iprs000136.
- 25. Largo RD, Tchang LA, Mele V, et al. Efficacy, safety and complications of autol- ogous fat grafting to healthy breast tissue: a systematic review. *Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery: JPRAS* 2014;67(4):437-48 [published Online First: 2014/01/08]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2013.11.011.
- Hoon SY, Cui CX, Cao J, et al. Better clinical outcome for autologous fat trans- plant combined with silicone gel prosthesis for breast augmentation: Evidence from meta-analysis. *Asian journal of surgery* 2020;43(1):166-80 [published Online First: 2019/10/28]. doi:10.1016/j.asjsur.2019.03.003.
- Al Sufyani MA, Al Hargan AH, Al Shammari NA, et al. Autologous Fat Transfer for Breast Augmentation: A Review. *Dermatologic* surgery: official publica- tion for American Society for Dermatologic Surgery [et al] 2016;42(11):1235-42 [published Online First: 2016/10/28]. doi:10.1097/dss.0000000000000791.
- Graf RM, Closs Ono MC, Pace D, et al. Breast Auto-augmentation (Mastopexy and Lipofilling): An Option for Quitting Breast Implants. Aesthetic plastic surgery 2019;43(5):1133-41 [published Online First: 2019/05/09]. doi:10.1007/s00266-019-01387-5.
- 29. Papadopoulos S, Vidovic G, Neid M, et al. Using Fat Grafting to Treat Breast Im- plant Capsular Contracture. *Plastic and recon-*

- structive surgery Global open 2018;6(11):e1969 [published Online First: 2019/03/19]. doi:10.1097/gox.0000000000001969.
- Haran O, Bracha G, Tiosano A, et al. Postirradiation Capsular Contracture in Im- plant-Based Breast Reconstruction: Management and Outcome. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2021;147(1):11-19 [published Online First: 2020/10/02]. doi:10.1097/prs.00000000000007453.
- 31. Juhl AA, Karlsson P, Damsgaard TE. Fat grafting for alleviating persistent pain after breast cancer treatment: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery: JPRAS* 2016;69(9):1192-202 [published Online First: 2016/07/30]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2016.07.003.
- 32. Lisa AVE, Murolo M, Maione L, et al. Autologous fat grafting efficacy in treating PostMastectomy pain syndrome: A prospective multicenter trial of two Senonetwork Italia breast centers. *The breast journal* 2020;**26**(9):1652-8 [published Online First: 2020/06/12]. doi:10.1111/tbj.13923.
- 33. Bertrand B, Eraud J, Velier M, et al. Supportive use of plateletrich plasma and stromal vascular fraction for cell-assisted fat transfer of skin radiation-induced lesions in nude mice. Burns: journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries 2020 [published Online First: 2020/06/02]. doi:10.1016/j.burns.2020.04.020.
- Silva ABD, Haupenthal F, Morais AD, et al. Relationship between Tamoxifen and the Absorption of Subfascial Autologous Fat Grafts. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2018;141(6):1408-15 [pub- lished Online First: 2018/05/12]. doi:10.1097/prs. 0000000000004415.
- 35. Varghese J, Griffin M, Mosahebi A, et al. Systematic review of patient factors af- fecting adipose stem cell viability and function: implications for regenerative therapy. Stem cell research & therapy 2017;8(1):45 [published Online First: 2017/03/01]. doi:10.1186/s13287-017- 0483-8.
- Ercan A, Baghaki S, Suleymanov S, et al. Effects of Cigarette Smoke on Fat Graft Survival in an Experimental Rat Model. Aesthetic plastic surgery 2019;43(3):815-25 [published Online First: 2019/03/02]. doi:10.1007/s00266-019-01327-3.
- 37. Agha RA, Pidgeon TE, Borrelli MR, et al. Validated Outcomes in the Grafting of Autologous Fat to the Breast: The VOGUE Study. Development of a Core Outcome Set for Research and Audit. Plastic and reconstructive surgery 2018;141(5) 633e-38e[published On- line First: 2018/04/27]. doi:10.1097/prs. 00000000000004273.
- Padoin AV, Braga-Silva J, Martins P, et al. Sources of processed lipoaspirate cells: influence of donor site on cell concentration. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2008;122(2):614-18 [pub- lished Online First: 2008/07/16]. doi:10.1097/PRS. 0b013e31817d5476.
- 39. Kakagia D, Pallua N. Autologous fat grafting: in search of the optimal technique. Surgical innovation 2014;21(3):327-36 [published Online First: 2014/02/01]. doi:10.1177/1553350613518846.
- 40. Di Taranto G, Cicione C, Visconti G, et al. Qualitative and quantitative differences of adipose-derived stromal cells from superficial and deep subcutaneous lipoaspirates: a matter of fat. *Cytotherapy* 2015;17(8):1076-89 [published Online First: 2015/05/24]. doi:10.1016/j.jcyt.2015.04.004.
- 41. Rohrich RJ, Sorokin ES, Brown SA. In search of improved fat transfer viability: a quantitative analysis of the role of centrifugation and harvest site. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2004;113(1):391-5 discussion 96-7[published Online First: 2004/01/07]. doi:10.1097/01.prs.0000097293.56504.00.
- Zhu M, Zhou Z, Chen Y, et al. Supplementation of fat grafts with adipose-derived regenerative cells improves long-term graft retention. *Annals of plastic surgery* 2010;64(2):222-8 [published Online First: 2010/01/26]. doi:10.1097/SAP. 0b013e31819ae05c.
- Klein JA. The Tumescent technique. Liposuction Textbook. Klein JA, editor; 2021.

- **44.** Klein JA. Tumescent technique for local anesthesia improves safety in large-vol- ume liposuction. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 1993;**92**(6):1085-98 dis- cussion 99-100[published Online First: 1993/11/01].
- 45. Livaoğlu M, Buruk CK, Uraloğlu M, et al. Effects of lidocaine plus epinephrine and prilocaine on autologous fat graft survival. The Journal of craniofacial surgery 2012;23(4):1015-18 [published Online First: 2012/07/11]. doi:10.1097/SCS. 0b013e31824e7302.
- 46. Shoshani O, Berger J, Fodor L, et al. The effect of lidocaine and adrenaline on the viability of injected adipose tissue-an experimental study in nude mice. *Jour- nal of drugs in dermatology: JDD* 2005;4(3):311-16 [published Online First: 2005/05/19].
- 47. Keck M, Janke J, Ueberreiter K. Viability of preadipocytes in vitro: the influence of local anesthetics and pH. *Dermatologic surgery: official publication for American Society for Dermatologic Surgery [et al]* 2009;35(8):1251-7 [published Online First: 2009/05/15]. doi:10.1111/j.1524-4725.2009.01220.x.
- 48. Girard AC, Atlan M, Bencharif K, et al. New insights into lidocaine and adren- aline effects on human adipose stem cells. *Aesthetic plastic surgery* 2013;37(1):144-52 [published Online First: 2012/12/15]. doi:10.1007/s00266-012-9988-9.
- 49. Erdim M, Tezel E, Numanoglu A, et al. The effects of the size of liposuction can- nula on adipocyte survival and the optimum temperature for fat graft storage: an experimental study. *Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery: JPRAS* 2009;62(9):1210-14 [published Online First: 2008/06/24]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2008.03.016.
- Nava MB, Blondeel P, Botti G, et al. International Expert Panel Consensus on Fat Grafting of the Breast. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery Global open* 2019;7(10):e2426 [published Online First: 2019/11/28]. doi:10.1097/gox.00000000000002426.
- Rose JG Jr, Lucarelli MJ, Lemke BN, et al. Histologic comparison of autologous fat processing methods. *Ophthalmic plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2006;22(3):195-200 [published Online First: 2006/05/23]. doi:10.1097/01.iop.0000217710.09941.10.
- Coleman SR. Structural fat grafts: the ideal filler? Clinics in plastic surgery 2001;28(1):111-19 [published Online First: 2001/03/16].
- 53. Hoareau L, Bencharif K, Girard AC, et al. Effect of centrifugation and washing on adipose graft viability: a new method to improve graft efficiency. *Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery: JPRAS* 2013;66(5):712-19 [published Online First: 2013/01/30]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2012.12.033.
- 54. Gal S, Pu LLQ. An Update on Cryopreservation of Adipose Tissue. Plastic and reconstructive surgery 2020;145(4):1089-97 [published Online First: 2020/03/30]. doi:10.1097/prs. 00000000000006699.
- El-Sabbagh AH. Modern trends in lipomodeling. GMS Interdisciplinary plastic and reconstructive surgery DGPW 2017;6 Doc06[published Online First: 2017/04/13]. doi:10.3205/iprs000108.
- 56. Sezgin B, Ozmen S, Bulam H, et al. Improving fat graft survival through preconditioning of the recipient site with microneedling. Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery: JPRAS 2014;67(5):712-20 [published Online First: 2014/02/18]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2014.01.019.
- 57. Gentile P, Orlandi A, Scioli MG, et al. A comparative translational study: the combined use of enhanced stromal vascular fraction and platelet-rich plasma improves fat grafting maintenance in breast reconstruction. Stem cells translational medicine 2012;1(4):341-51 [published Online First: 2012/12/01]. doi:10.5966/sctm.2011-0065.
- Khouri R, Del Vecchio D. Breast reconstruction and augmentation using pre-ex- pansion and autologous fat transplantation. *Clinics in plastic surgery* 2009;36(2) 269-80, viii[published Online First: 2009/03/25]. doi:10.1016/j.cps.2008.11.009.
- Grazer FM, de Jong RH. Fatal outcomes from liposuction: census survey of cos- metic surgeons. Plastic and reconstructive

- *surgery* 2000;**105**(1):436-46 dis- cussion 47-8[published Online First: 2000/01/08]. doi:10.1097/00006534-200001000-00070.
- Pierrefeu-Lagrange AC, Delay E, Guerin N, et al. [Radiological evaluation of breasts reconstructed with lipomodeling].
 Annales de chirurgie plastique et esthetique 2006;51(1):18-28 [published Online First: 2005/12/13]. doi:10.1016/j.anplas. 2005.10.001.
- Gosset J, Guerin N, Toussoun G, et al. [Radiological evaluation after lipomodel- ling for correction of breast conservative treatment sequelae]. *Annales de chirurgie plastique et esthetique* 2008;53(2):178-89 [published Online First: 2007/12/07]. doi:10.1016/j.anplas.2007.09.003.
- 62. Mu DL, Luan J, Mu L, et al. Breast augmentation by autologous fat injection grafting: management and clinical analysis of complications. *Annals of plastic surgery* 2009;63(2):124-7 [published Online First: 2009/07/04]. doi:10.1097/SAP. 0b013e318189a98a.
- 63. Carvajal J, Patiño JH. Mammographic findings after breast augmentation with au-tologous fat injection. *Aesthetic surgery journal* 2008;**28**(2):153-62 [published Online First: 2008/12/17]. doi:10.1016/j.asj.2007.12.008.
- 64. Cheung M, Houssami N, Lim E. The unusual mammographic appearance of breasts augmented by autologous fat injection. *Breast (Edinburgh, Scotland)* 2000;**9**(4):220-2 [published Online First: 2004/01/21]. doi:10.1054/brst.2000.0168.
- Lazzaretti MG, Giovanardi G, Gibertoni F, et al. A late complication of fat auto- grafting in breast augmentation. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2009;123(2):71e-72e [published Online First: 2009/02/03]. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181959571.
- 66. Willett AM MM, Lee MJR. Best practice diagnostic guidelines for patients pre-senting with breast symptoms. In: Health Do, ed.: Breakthrough Breast Can-cer, 2010.
- 67. Agha RA, Fowler AJ, Herlin C, et al. Use of autologous fat grafting for breast re- construction: a systematic review with meta-analysis of oncological outcomes. *Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery: JPRAS* 2015;68(2):143-61 [published Online First: 2015/01/17]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2014.10.038
- 68. Krastev TK, Schop SJ, Hommes J, et al. Meta-analysis of the oncological safety of autologous fat transfer after breast cancer. The British journal of surgery 2018;105(9):1082-97 [published Online First: 2018/06/07]. doi:10.1002/bjs.10887.
- Spear SL, Wilson HB, Lockwood MD. Fat injection to correct contour deformities in the reconstructed breast. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2005;116(5):1300-5 [published Online First: 2005/10/12]. doi:10.1097/01.prs.0000181509.67319.cf.
- Chan CW, McCulley SJ, Macmillan RD. Autologous fat transfera review of the literature with a focus on breast cancer surgery. *Journal of plastic, reconstruc- tive & aesthetic* surgery: *JPRAS* 2008;61(12):1438-48 [published Online First: 2008/10/14]. doi:10.1016/j.bjps.2008.08.006.
- Kanchwala SK, Glatt BS, Conant EF, et al. Autologous fat grafting to the recon-structed breast: the management of acquired contour deformities. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2009;124(2):409-18 [published Online First: 2009/08/01]. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e3181aeeadd.
- 72. Breast reconstruction using lipomodelling after breast cancer treatment. NICE guidance, Jan 2012.
- 73. Vyas KS, Vasconez HC, Morrison S, et al. Fat Graft Enrichment Strategies: A Sys- tematic Review. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery* 2020;**145**(3):827-41 [published Online First: 2020/02/26]. doi:10.1097/prs.0000000000006557.
- 74. Schop SJ, Joosen MEM, Wolswijk T, et al. Quality of life after autologous fat transfer additional to prosthetic breast reconstruction in women after breast surgery: A systematic review. European journal of surgical oncology: the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology 2020 [published Online First: 2020/11/28]. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2020.10.021.